IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI Case No. 2006-IA-00047-SCT

EPHEN L. BANKS AND JIMMY OGLESBY d/b/a OGLESBY FARMS

DEFENDANTS/APPELLANTS

VS.

FILED

CURLIE DARNELL HILL

JUN 2 0 2007

PLAINTIFF/APPELLEE

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

On Appeal from the First Judicial District of the Circuit Court of Bolivar County, Mississippi; Cause No. CV-2003-7

PRINCIPAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS EPHEN L. BANKS AND JIMMY OGLESBY d/b/a OGLESBY FARMS (Oral Argument Requested)

Bradley F. Hathaway, MSB No. Campbell DeLong, LLP 923 Washington Avenue P.O. Box 1856
Greenville, Mississippi 38702-1856

Telephone: (662) 335-6011 Facsimile: (662) 334-6407

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

Where a plaintiff's trial experts have been properly stricken on the dual grounds that: (1) they were designated untimely without reasonable justification and (2) to allow plaintiff's experts to testify at trial would result in undue prejudice to the defendants, can the plaintiff still call experts after the defense rests to offer opinions on the *prima facie* elements of liability and damages under the auspices of "rebuttal" evidence?

STATEMENT PERTAINING TO ORAL ARGUMENT

Defendants/Appellants, Ephen L. Banks and Jimmy Oglesby d/b/a Oglesby Farms, submit that oral argument would assist this Court in its decisional process of resolving an issue of fundamental and broad public importance critical to maintaining the integrity of the interplay between the rules governing disclosure of experts and the rules governing trial procedure.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. Nature of the Case, Course of the Proceedings and Disposition in the Court Below

This appeal arises out of a case which finds its genesis on or about May 20, 2003, when the Plaintiff, Curlie Hill, filed suit against three (3) separate Defendants – Ephen L. Banks, Rice Farm Products d/b/a Quad Farms¹ and Jimmy Oglesby d/b/a Oglesby Farms – alleging that he sustained permanent personal injuries in an automobile wreck occurring on September 18, 2002, in Bolivar County, Mississippi. R.E. 1, 98; D.P.² 1; T.H.³ 75. All Defendants promptly responded to the suit by sharply disputing both liability and damages. R.E. 1; D.P. 1.

Though liability for the wreck and the nature and extent of the Plaintiff's injuries were contested from the outset of the litigation, the Plaintiff inexcusably failed to comply with multiple discovery obligations, including court orders, regarding the timely designation of trial experts. R.E. 27, 102-104; T.H. 4, 79-81. When the Plaintiff belatedly attempted to designate experts without leave to do so, the trial court judiciously struck them by order dated October 31, 2004, finding that the Plaintiff's untimely designation of expert witnesses would result in undue prejudice to the Defendants. R.E. 12; C.P. 4. The Plaintiff never appealed from that order and it stands as the law of the case. R.E. 14; C.P. 6.

What the Plaintiff did instead was to make an unprecedented plea for dispensation to call his stricken experts *in rebuttal*; in other words, after the Plaintiff presented his case-in-chief and rested and after Defendants presented their case-in-chief and rested, the Plaintiff wanted to complete his offer of proof by calling his liability and damage experts in "rebuttal." R.E. 29-30; T.H. 6-7.

¹ Quad Farms was subsequently dismissed by summary judgment and thus is not a party to this appeal.

² "Docket Page" is a part of the Clerk's Papers but bears separate numbers from the Clerk's Papers.

³ "Transcript of Hearing" also bears its own page numbering.

By order entered on December 21, 2005, the trial court: 1) first *denied* Plaintiff's request to call his untimely designated experts in rebuttal; 2) but then *granted* the Plaintiff exception to call other qualified experts at trial as rebuttal witnesses, regardless of whether such experts and the opinions they held had been disclosed prior to trial. R.E. 12-13; C.P. 4-5.

On January 11, 2006, the Defendants jointly submitted their petition for interlocutory appeal to this Court, requesting interlocutory review only of the trial court's limited ruling which allowed the Plaintiff to call liability and damage experts under the pretense of "rebuttal" experts, though, by separate ruling, the Plaintiff had been barred from calling experts in his case-in-chief. The Plaintiff perfected no cross-appeal of any issues or rulings of the trial court.

On January 25, 2006, this Court granted Defendants' petition for interlocutory appeal.

II. Statement of Facts Relevant to the Issues Presented for Review

In the fall of 2002, Jimmy Oglesby d/b/a Oglesby Farms ("Oglesby"), a custom harvester, was harvesting soy beans from fields adjacent to Mississippi Highway 8 near Rosedale in Bolivar County. Ephen Banks ("Banks"), who worked for Oglesby, was hauling the harvested beans to the nearby port of Rosedale using a 1978 Freightliner tractor-trailer. The Freightliner was actually owned by Rice Farm Products d/b/a Quad Farms ("Quad Farms") but had been loaned to Oglesby for his company's use. On the afternoon of September 18, 2002, Banks was returning from the port to the field where the harvesting operations were ongoing when he was involved in a collision with a vehicle being driven by the Plaintiff, Curlie Hill.

On May 20, 2003, the Plaintiff filed suit against Banks, Oglesby and Quad Farms, accusing each of certain acts of negligence which the Plaintiff contended were the proximate cause of the collision. R.E. 1; D.P. 1. *A fortiori*, the Plaintiff specifically claimed in his initial pleadings to have sustained permanent and disabling injuries for which he was seeking recovery. R.E. 98; T.H. 75.

Piercing these otherwise bare allegations, each of the three (3) Defendants served discovery

on the Plaintiff. Each set of discovery included an interrogatory calling on the Plaintiff to identify trial experts and to disclose M.R.C.P. Rule 26(b)(4) information for each expert identified. The earliest of these interrogatories was served on or about June 23, 2003. R.E. 1; D.P. 1. Yet, by October of that year, some seven months after the filing of the lawsuit, the Plaintiff had not designated any experts in response.

So, on October 10, 2003, a scheduling order formulated by and with the agreement of counsel for all parties was entered by the trial court. R.E. 3; D.P. 3. The terms of this first scheduling order required the Plaintiff to designate *all* of his trial experts no later than January 31, 2004. R.E. 47-49; T.H. 24-26. The order did not distinguish between anticipated case-in-chief experts and anticipated rebuttal experts. It should be parenthetically noted that scheduling orders, as a rule, do not ever create a dichotomy between case-in-chief and rebuttal experts as Rule 26(b)(4) is non-discriminating in its requirements that full and fair disclosures be made for any expert to be called by a party at trial.

When that deadline expired without the designation of any experts by the Plaintiff, the parties cooperated and agreed upon a revised scheduling order, and on April 16, 2004, the trial court enlarged the expert designation deadlines by entering an amended scheduling order. R.E. 4, 27; D.P. 4; T.H. 4. This second scheduling order required the Plaintiff to designate *all* expert witnesses no later than April 30, 2004. The amended deadline for the designation of Defendants' expert witnesses was May 31, 2004.

Still, the Plaintiff did not designate any experts prior to the expiration of his April 30, 2004, deadline. R.E. 47-49; T.H. 24-26. Banks and Oglesby on the other hand timely served their Joint Designation of Expert Witnesses on May 25, 2004. R.E. 4, 47-49; D.P. 4; T.H. 24-26. At this time, Banks and Oglesby also fully disclosed to the Plaintiff the subject matter, the facts and the opinions on which each expert was expected to testify, together with the grounds for their opinions. These

defense experts included both liability and damage experts. *Id.* The strategy pursued by Banks and Oglesby in their selection of experts as well as the opinions formulated by the defense experts was driven, *inter alia*, by the fact that the Plaintiff designated no experts for trial. R.E. 49-50; T.H. 26-27. Two months later, on July 26, 2004 – after having the benefit of the defense experts' opinions – the Plaintiff filed with the trial court a *Motion for Status Conference* in which he requested that the Court grant him leave to designate an "additional expert to address and rebut defenses raised or issues raised by the defense in this case." R.E. 5; D.P. 5. The Plaintiff's reference in his motion to an "additional" expert was a misnomer. No expert had been previously designated by Plaintiff.

Then, without obtaining leave of court, the Plaintiff attempted to designate experts on August 25, 2004 – some four (4) months after the appointed deadline and some three (3) months after having the benefit of the opinions of Banks and Oglesby's experts. R.E. 5, 28; D.P. 5; T.H. 5. The Plaintiff identified an accident reconstruction expert, Sammy R. Green, and a vocational rehabilitation expert, C. Lamar Crocker. R.E. 28; T.H. 5.

All Defendants moved to strike the Plaintiff's attempted designation. R.E. 5; D.P. 5. On September 30, 2004, a hearing was held before the Honorable Kenneth L. Thomas on several motions, including the Plaintiff's motion to again extend the deadline of the Amended Scheduling Order to allow leave to designate experts out of time, and the Defendants' joint motion to strike the untimely designated experts.⁴ R.E. 9; C.P.1. After consideration of the parties' submissions to the court and receiving considerable oral argument, Judge Thomas denied the Plaintiff's request to designate experts out of time, sustaining the Defendants' motion to strike the designation as being untimely *and* prejudicial. *Id.* By order dated October 31, 2004, Judge Thomas cogently articulated the rationale for this decision, writing:

⁴ It was at this hearing that the trial court granted summary judgment to Quad Farms, dismissing it from the case and leaving Banks and Oglesby as the remaining Defendants.

Specifically, the Court finds that Plaintiff untimely designated expert witnesses outside the deadline mandated by the Agreed Amended Scheduling Order without reasonable justification. The Court further finds that Plaintiff's untimely designation of expert witnesses was made after Defendants' expert witnesses were designated; and thus, to allow Plaintiff's experts to testify at trial would result in undue prejudice to the Defendants.

See Order dated October 31, 2004. R.E. 9-10; C.P. 1-2.

The Plaintiff did not appeal from this ruling. R.E. 45; T.H. 22. However, at the motion hearing and upon being verbally advised by the trial court that the Plaintiff's request to designate experts out of time was to be denied, Plaintiff's counsel made an *ore tenus* request to call the stricken experts *in rebuttal*. R.E. 46; T.H. 23. The trial court, declining to make a ruling at that time, directed the parties to submit briefs on the issue. R.E. 46-47; T.H. 23-24.

On October 26, 2004, Oglesby submitted a Motion and Brief to Exclude Plaintiff's Stricken Experts from Testifying in Rebuttal. R.E. 6; D.P. 6. That motion was joined in and expanded upon by Banks through a separate brief to the trial court. Id. Only then did Plaintiff submit a brief on the issue titled, Rebuttal to the Defendant's Brief and Motion to Exclude Plaintiff's Experts from Testifying in Rebuttal. Id. Thereafter, the Plaintiff filed a notice of hearing which purported to set for hearing "Plaintiff's Motion for Reconsideration" – but the Plaintiff never submitted any such motion for reconsideration. Id. at 7.

On July 5, 2005, a second hearing was held before the trial court, this time regarding whether Plaintiff's stricken experts could testify as rebuttal witnesses. Ultimately, the trial court generously allowed the Plaintiff to make an *ore tenus* motion for reconsideration of the prior order striking Plaintiff's experts. R.E. 77, 102; T.H. 54, 79. The trial court again heard considerable oral argument on both motions. During the hearing, the Plaintiff withdrew his request altogether to call an accident reconstructionist, but redoubled efforts at calling his vocational rehabilitation expert, C. Lamar Crocker, to testify in support of Plaintiff's claim of permanent and total disability. R.E. 78;

When the lower court was prepared to rule, the following colloquy ensued:

BY THE COURT: The designation rule has its purpose, otherwise it would not exist. And for a good cause shown, the Court can [sic.] overlook that. But, as the Court has earlier stated, there was not one, not two, but three dates that passed by without a designation. So the Court, upon reconsidering the motion for reconsideration, continues to deny the testimony of Lamar Crocker and the Court will deny any offering of his report into evidence as well.

The Court does hereby grant the defendant's motion to the extent that it strikes the expert from testifying, that particular expert, in rebuttal. And, as the Court has already stated, the Court will not allow admission of that expert's report.

What the Court will do, however, is allow the plaintiff to present rebuttal testimony, even from an expert, but other than Lamar Crocker. The Court agrees that he should not be able to get in the back door what has been disallowed through the front door.

But that rebuttal evidence that may be put on by an expert will be limited to that testimony which would have been presented during the defendant's case in chief. If the defendant's case in chief does not cover a particular matter, then that matter cannot be addressed during the course of rebuttal evidence presented by the plaintiff.

The Court does not cherish this ruling, but it feels that is has done the legal and just thing.

BY MR. HOLLOWELL: May I get a clarification.

BY THE COURT: Yes, sir.

BY MR. HOLLOWELL: You said the Court allowed the plaintiff to present rebuttal testimony even by other than Lamar Crocker.

BY THE COURT: By expert.

BY MR. HOLLOWELL: In other words, is the Court excluding Crocker and the plaintiff will be allowed to yet retain another expert, is that what the Court is saying, or may I use Crocker.

BY THE COURT: You may not use Crocker. Nor his report.

BY MR. HOLLOWELL: Not Crocker.

BY THE COURT: But if you want some other expert sitting in the courtroom, listening to the evidence, then that person may testify, but his testimony will be limited to those issues addressed by the defense during its case in chief.

BY MR. HOLLOWELL: Yes, sir. Let me ask you this question while we're here. Does that witness have to be designated? Because this is a rebuttal witness, but it is a rebuttal witness and nobody has ever told me what the real rule is. I know the rule to laypersons is, they do not have to be designated.

BY THE COURT: And I agree with you. I have not seen anything. My staff attorney and I will look into it, and I encourage each of you to do the same.

BY MR. HOLLOWELL: Right.

BY THE COURT: But it would be a very cautious thing on your part to tender that name to the other side.

BY MR. HOLLOWELL: Yes, sir. But not a report or anything because all he's going to be doing is –

BY THE COURT: He doesn't know what he's going to testify to.

BY MR. HOLLOWELL: That's right. Thank you, Your Honor. I'll do that. And I'll be –

BY THE COURT: I recommend that you tender that name.

BY MR. HOLLOWELL: I will.

BY THE COURT: But I don't order it because I don't know if there's cause [sic.] authority for it.

BY MR. HOLLOWELL: Okay.

BY THE COURT: Now if either side wishes to take issue, of course, there's interlocutory appeal.

R.E. 104-107; T.H. 81-84.

On December 21, 2005, the trial court entered its order which contained three rulings:

- First, the trial court *denied* Plaintiff's *ore tenus* motion to reconsider the October 24, 2004, order striking Plaintiff's experts;
- Second, the trial court *denied* Plaintiff's request to call his untimely designated experts in rebuttal at trial;
- But, third, the trial court allowed Plaintiff to call other, non-designated experts to testify in rebuttal at trial.

See Order entered December 21, 2005. R.E. 12-13; C.P. 4-5.

Specifically, the order stated:

- 1. Plaintiff's motion, *ore tenus*, for reconsideration is denied and the Order of this Court dated October 24, 2004, stands as entered; and
- 2. Defendants' motion to call stricken experts in rebuttal is granted in part and denied in part as follows:
 - A. The Plaintiff shall not be allowed to call his untimely designated experts in rebuttal at trial and, thus, to that extent the motion is granted.
 - B. However, the Court finds that the Plaintiff will be permitted to call other qualified experts at trial as rebuttal witnesses only, though such experts have not been timely designated in accordance with any of the scheduling orders previously entered by this court. Such experts' testimony shall be limited to

rebuttal of the Defendants' case in chief. To this extent, the motion is denied.

3. The Court is of the further opinion that in regard to its ruling on Defendants' motion to prohibit Plaintiff from calling stricken experts in rebuttal, a substantial basis exists for a difference of opinion on a question of law and, therefore, gives its permission and consent for an interlocutory appeal from this issue.

See Order entered December 21, 2005. Id.

It is the ruling in \P 2(B) of the order from which this appeal was taken.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This case presents the significant issue of whether a plaintiff can save expert testimony offered to prove *prima facie* elements of his claim until the rebuttal stage of trial, when that plaintiff's experts (who were designated out-of-time and without leave of court during discovery) were already stricken for good cause.

First, a statement of what this appeal does not concern is in order. This appeal does not concern whether the experts which the Plaintiff attempted to designate at the trial level should have been stricken in the first instance. That ruling stands as the law of the case and no appeal was perfected from it, which makes the lower court ruling all the more mystifying. The back-drop to this appeal is a trial court judiciously determining that the Plaintiff did not properly disclose his trial experts and thus would not be permitted to call them at trial, but then, in a very confusing turn of events, declaring that the Plaintiff could call similar experts in his rebuttal case. This incongruous result respects the consequences of violating the rules concerning disclosure of experts, on the one hand, and fully undermines them on the other.

If a plaintiff is required to introduce in his opening case and before he rests all the substantive evidence upon which he relies to establish his demand, and the extent of that demand – which is the current state of the law – the decision crafted by the trial court that permits the Plaintiff to call an expert in rebuttal for the very purpose of establishing his injuries and the extent of them cannot stand without turning the law 180 degrees. Though Twain⁶ is attributed with saying, "[a]pparently there is nothing that cannot happen," the law was designed to eliminate such uncertainty. The very existence of our law depends on adhering to established precedent. Stare decisis et non quieta movere: security and certainty require that accepted legal principle not be

All the more peculiar in the present case is the added feature that the trial court instructed the Plaintiff that he had to retain a completely different expert or set of experts for his "rebuttal" witnesses.

unsettled.

Authoritative law simply does not reserve room for the Plaintiff to call experts in rebuttal when Plaintiff's proffered experts were prohibited from testifying in the Plaintiff's case-in-chief. Timely, meaningful disclosure of expert opinions is crucial because of the technical nature of expert testimony, which is chiefly why our laws guarantee trial counsel sufficient time prior to trial to meet and prepare for a particular contention that relies on specialized knowledge. The trial court's order denies the Defendants these protections the rules of procedure were meant to guarantee.

⁶ Samuel Langhorne Clemens (1835-1910).

ARGUMENT

Despite the trial court's good intentions, its decision permitting the Plaintiff to call expert witnesses in rebuttal after properly precluding the Plaintiff from calling experts in his case-in-chief is irreconcilable with applicable law and notions of justice on two grounds. First, it is free from doubt that expert testimony offered to prove the truth of the Plaintiff's claims as to liability or damages is not legitimate "rebuttal" evidence. Secondly, the issue joined before this Court does not merely embrace whether the admissibility *vel non* of substantive expert testimony is rebuttal evidence; rather, this specific case involves an undisturbed finding that the Plaintiff's substantive experts should be stricken. To allow the Plaintiff to *admit* evidence in rebuttal which was declared as a matter of law to be *inadmissible* in the Plaintiff's case-in-chief opens the back door to that which could not come in through the front, resulting in a maligning of the rules of procedure and great prejudice to the Defendants.

I. The order of the court below should be reversed as it permits the Plaintiff to repackage substantive expert testimony as "rebuttal" evidence and is an affront to the integrity of the process.

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