IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2006-IA-00047-SCT

**EPHEN L. BANKS AND
JIMMY OGLESBY d/b/a OGLESBY FARMS**

DEFENDANTS/APPELLANTS

v.

CURLIE DARNELL HILL

PLAINTIFFS/APPELLEES

**On Appeal from the First Judicial District of the Circuit Court of
Bolivar County, Mississippi; Civil Action File No. CV-2003-7**

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

GEORGE F. HOLLOWELL, JR.
Mississippi Bar No. [REDACTED]
246 South Hinds Street
Post Office Drawer 1407
Greenville, Mississippi 38702-1407
(662) 378-3103
(662) 378-3420(fax)
ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEE

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2006-IA-00047-SCT

**EPHEN L. BANKS AND
JIMMY OGLESBY d/b/a OGLESBY FARMS**

DEFENDANTS/APPELLANTS

v.

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

Moreover, the defense always has the open of following the proper procedure recommended by the case law and filing a motion to compel designation of experts and

disclosure of their opinions and obtaining an order to compel such disclosure prior to moving for exclusion of evidence or the ultimate sanction of dismissal where experts are absolutely required. If the plaintiff then defies an order to compel, a proper record would have been made to support the extreme sanction of exclusion of evidence despite any detriment to a party's case and the need to employ lesser sanctions first.

Finally, Appellants' arguments ignore the fact that in the circumstances of this case, it would have been within the discretion of the trial court not to exclude Hill's late designated vocational expert at all and to have allowed Hill to use Lamar Crocker in both his case in chief and to rebut any matters raised by the defense. Given that the court had that discretion, as well as the discretion to modify his earlier sanction order on his own motion or at the request of a party until final judgment, it necessarily follows that the trial court had the discretion to employ the lesser sanction that he finally devised after the Rule 35 examination. In fact, Appellants do not address the standard of review anywhere in their brief or acknowledge that the rulings in this case are subject to review only under the abuse of discretion standard.

ARGUMENT

I. Standard of Review⁵

A trial court has considerable discretion in managing discovery and the pre-trial process including scheduling orders, and an abuse of discretion standard of review applies to such orders. *City of Jackson v. Presley*, 942 So.2d 777, ¶7 (Miss. 2006). Similarly, the admission and exclusion of evidence, including expert testimony, is generally committed to the sound discretion of the trial court, reviewed only for abuse of discretion. *Burnham v. Stevens*, 734 So. 2d 256, ¶¶ 43-47 (Miss. Ct. App. 1999). An abuse of discretion standard also applies to a decision of a trial

⁵Appellants do not appear to have addressed the standard of review anywhere in their brief.

court as to what sanctions to impose for violation of an order. *Brennan v. Webb*, 729 So. 2d 244, ¶ 11 (Miss. Ct. App. 1998). Thus, an abuse of discretion standard clearly applies to all the issues in this appeal. *Burnham* at ¶¶ 43-47.

II. The Circuit Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion in Permitting Plaintiff to Hire an Additional Expert After the Discovery Deadlines Had Passed to be Used Solely as a Rebuttal Expert After Excluding Plaintiff's Original Expert and Prohibiting Plaintiff of Using Any Expert on a Particular Issue as a Sanction for Not Designating the Expert Within the Deadline Set by the Scheduling Order

A. The Trial Court's Earlier Order Was Subject to Change Regardless of Whether a Proper Motion to Reconsider Was Timely Made

There is no time limit on motions to reconsider or a trial court's reconsideration of an order relating to discovery as discovery orders are not final. *Trilogy Communs., Inc. v. Thomas Truck Lease, Inc.*, 733 So. 2d 313, ¶ 11 (Miss. Ct. App. 1998) Moreover, the trial court always has the

entire control of his orders and decrees and authority to modify or vacate any of them on motion of any party, or on his own, prior to final judgment. The rules of Civil Procedure do not change this basic authority which rests in any chancellor or circuit judge as to any case in his court.

In re Enlargement of Corporate Limits, 588 So. 2d 814, 828 (Miss. 1991). It is undisputed that the October 31, 2004 order was an interlocutory order: Appellants' arguments concerning the time that Hill allowed to pass before asking the court to reconsider it speak of Hill's failure to seek an interlocutory appeal of that order. There had been no final judgment in this case and the matter was not even set for trial. Thus, neither the passage of time or the existence of the October 31, 2004 order in any way affects the authority or discretion of the trial court to decide upon the terms of and to make the decision made at the end of the July 5, 2005 hearing or to enter the interlocutory order which is the subject of this appeal.

B. Severity of the Sanction for Violating Scheduling Order

The Mississippi Supreme Court has held that exclusion of evidence or exclusion of a witness as a sanction for a discovery violation is a drastic sanction of last resort which should be used only in extreme cases. *Thompson v. Patino*, 784 So.2d 220, 223-24, ¶25 (Miss. 2001); *Mississippi Power & Light Co. v. Lumpkin*, 725 So. 2d 721, 733 (Miss. 1998); *McCollum v. Franklin*, 608 So. 2d 692, 694 (Miss. 1992); *Brennan v. Webb*, 729 So. 2d 244, ¶ 11 (Miss. Ct. App. 1998). Such a sanction is particularly harsh when the plaintiff's only expert on an element crucial to his case is excluded. At times, when a party's only expert on a crucial issue has been excluded as a discovery sanction, it has been found to be an abuse of discretion. See *Brennan* at ¶¶ 5-11 (abuse of discretion to exclude expert designated a week before trial when rule required designation 60 days before trial).

In *Robert v. Colson*, 729 So. 2d 1243 (Miss. 1999), the defendant moved to compel the plaintiff to dismiss or name her experts 13 months after suit was filed. Trial was set for a date more than nine months after the defense filed its motion to compel. The plaintiff supplemented her discovery by providing expert disclosures the day after the motion to compel was filed. The appellate court held that it was an abuse of discretion for the trial court to strike the discovery supplementation including the expert disclosures as a discovery sanction, explaining

¶25 In *Caracci v. International Paper Co.*, 699 So. 2d 546 (Miss. 1997), this Court addressed the effect of an alleged discovery violation due to the failure of the plaintiff to furnish a sworn answer to an expert interrogatory. The defendant made no pre-trial motions with regard to the alleged deficiency. *Caracci*, 699 So. 2d at 547. We stated

Under our rules of civil procedure, failure to make or cooperate in discovery should first be resolved by making a motion in the proper court requesting an order compelling such discovery. See M.R.C.P. 37(a)(2). The remedy for failing to comply with the discovery requests when the trial court grants an order to compel falls under M.R.C.P. 37(a)(4) in the form of awarding the moving party the expenses for such motion. See M.R.C.P. 37; January v.

Barnes, 621 So. 2d 915, 922 (Miss. 1992). After such an order to compel has been granted under M.R.C.P. 37(a)(2), and the party ordered to answer fails to respond, then the remedy may be sanctions in accordance with M.R.C.P. 37(b). See 8 Wright & Miller, Federal Practice and Procedure: Civil § 2050 (1970).

699 So. 2d at 557.

¶26 Colson made no early motions to compel Robert to answer his first set of interrogatories. Colson agreed to give Robert more time to respond and Robert did so soon thereafter. Colson moved the court to compel Robert to name an expert or alternatively to dismiss the case. The next day on March 25, 1997, Robert named an expert and gave the substance of his proposed testimony. ... 'Lower courts should be cautious in ... refusing to permit testimony The reason for this is obvious. Courts are courts of justice not of form. The parties should not be penalized for any procedural failure that may be handled without doing violence to court procedures.'" Caracci, 699 So. 2d at 556 (quoting Clark v. Mississippi Power Co., 372 So. 2d 1077, 1078 (Miss.1979)). See Pierce v. Heritage Properties, Inc., 688 So. 2d 1385, 1388 (Miss. 1997) ... Robert's and Colson's conduct in this case is the type of conduct contemplated by Caracci. Discovery proceedings were controlled and managed by the parties and the trial court was involved only when Colson could not through a good faith effort persuade Robert to comply with his request to name an expert.

729 So. 2d at 1247-1248.

Similarly, in *Thompson v. Patino*, the court found abuse of discretion where the trial court excluded expert testimony as an initial sanction even though there were early motions to compel because there was no violation of a court order on the motion to compel. The case was filed in February of 1994. The defense filed two motions to compel three and four months after suit was filed. The plaintiff identified his experts in June of 1994 but did not disclose their opinions. Discovery was extended by agreement until December of 1995. The plaintiff's request for a further extension of discovery in 1996 was denied after which the plaintiff identified Dr. Wilson and Dr. Ferrari as experts in February, 1997. A trial date had not been set although there was some discussion of January, 1998, being the earliest possible date for trial. Again, the court found the sanction of striking the plaintiff's experts too drastic and an abuse of discretion, saying:

Thompson's counsel was more neglectful of her case than the attorney in *Robert*. However, we find that the penalty should have been something less drastic than striking Thompson's supplemented responses and Dr. Ferrari's affidavit. See *Mississippi Power & Light Co. v. Lumpkin*, 725 So. 2d 721, 733 (Miss. 1998) (exclusion of evidence due to discovery violation is extreme measure). One significant factor in *Robert* and other cases decided by this Court is the substantial length of time between supplementation and a trial date, or lack of a trial date altogether. The circuit court, in making its ruling, gave a detailed recitation of the events of the case and obviously felt that the failure of Thompson's counsel was deliberate or at least seriously negligent. Sanctions were appropriate, but the exclusion of medical expert evidence ... amounted to an abuse of discretion under the facts of this case.

784 So.2d at 223-24, ¶25.

While this case does not involve the exclusion of expert testimony in a case where a required element of the plaintiff's case cannot be established by law without the use of an expert, these cases and more recent ones continue to quote from *Caracci*, 699 So. 2d at 556 and *Clark v. Mississippi Power Co.*, 372 So. 2d 1077, 1078 (Miss.1979) stating that the same principles apply to the exclusion of testimony as a sanction for discovery violations, including disclosures concerning experts. See e.g., *Beck v. Sapet*, 937 So. 2d 945 (Miss. 2006) (proper procedure for imposing harsher sanction followed where party failed to comply with two orders to compel).

Furthermore, *McCullum v. Franklin*, 608 So. 2d 692 (Miss. 1992) also clearly holds that exclusion of testimony as a sanction for a discovery violation is extreme and a measure of last resort. Although the error was not properly preserved, it was so fundamental, the court stated:

Before we amended Rule 26, providing the names of trial witnesses was thought invasive of work product and the thought processes of opposing counsel. During discovery, a party was, therefore, not entitled to a list of trial witnesses. *Kern v. Gulf Coast Nursing Home of Moss Point, Inc.*, 502 So.2d 1198, 1200 (Miss. 1987). ... Ignoring for the moment that *McCullum* wholly failed to preserve this issue ..., it is clear that the trial court failed to properly respond to the objection based on lack of discovery. Exclusion of evidence is a last resort. Every reasonable alternative means of assuring the elimination of any prejudice to the moving party and a proper sanction against the offending party should be explored before ordering exclusion.

608 So. 2d at 694. Thus, *McCullum* makes it clear both that lesser sanctions, including every

reasonable alternative of lesser sanctions should be considered. It also makes it clear that under our current rules, the sort of advantage or disadvantage as to timing of disclosure of theory of the case prejudice the defense relies on in the present case is not the kind of prejudice that justifies total exclusion of evidence at least where there is sufficient time before trial to prepare to meet the evidence.

Later decisions continue in the same vein, requiring a careful balancing of factors before a decision is made to exclude testimony based on a discovery violation. In *Buskirk v. Elliott*, 856 So. 2d 255, 260, ¶ 11 (Miss. 2003), the court held:

the trial court is to consider four factors before excluding evidence based upon a discovery violation: the explanation for the transgression, the importance of the testimony, the need for time to prepare to meet the testimony, and the possibility of a continuance. *Miss. Power & Light Co. v. Lumpkin*, 725 So. 2d 721, 734 (Miss. 1998) (citing *Murphy v. Magnolia Elec. Power Ass'n*, 639 F.2d 232, 235 (5th Cir. 1981)). With regard to each factor, this Court has stated:

The first consideration involves a determination whether the failure was deliberate, seriously negligent or an excusable oversight. The second consideration involves an assessment of harm to the proponent of the testimony. The third and fourth considerations involve an assessment of the prejudice to the opponent of the evidence, the possibility of alternatives to cure that harm and the effect on the orderly proceedings of the court.

Id. This Court has further stated:

Exclusion of evidence is a last resort. Every reasonable alternative means of assuring the elimination of any prejudice to the moving party and a proper sanction against the offending party should be explored before ordering exclusion.

McCollum, 608 So. 2d at 694.

After stating the factors to be considered, *Buskirk* went on to hold, even though the discovery violation was the result of serious negligence for which there was no excuse, one factor is not controlling even though it weighs against the proponents of the testimony. The exclusion of the evidence need not be automatically fatal to a party's case for the second factor to weigh against exclusion. The fact that the exclusion of the expert testimony is simply harmful to a

party's case is sufficient for the second factor to weigh against exclusion. In regard to timing and tactical decisions, the court held that where a substantial amount of time remained until trial to prepare, the fact that the other party, believing they would be able to get certain expert testimony excluded based on an incorrect statement in interrogatory responses about the witnesses qualifications, made tactical decisions (including whom to interview or take depositions from and whom to voluntarily dismiss, as well as where to concentrate their trial preparation) was not the kind of prejudice contemplated by the rules in regard to the harsh sanction of excluding evidence for discovery violations.

There is not even an allegation in the present case that the failure to disclose Hill's vocational expert in a timely manner was intentional or a tactical decision or the result of bad faith. Defense counsel made it clear to the court at the hearing, that he was not suggesting anything of the kind. (Tr. p. 73, lines 20-28; R.E. p. 100, lines 20-28) On the other hand, Hill's counsel does not contend that the factors which caused the error were excusable. To the contrary, he accepted responsibility for the actions of his staff and his failure to make sure the disclosures were timely filed regardless of how they happened. (Tr. pp. 17-20, 51; R.E. pp. 40-43, 74) There may be negligence beyond excusable neglect, but there clearly is no intentional nondisclosure, tactical nondisclosure, or bad faith in this case.

On the second factor, the present case does not involve a situation where exclusion of evidence amounts to dismissal because the only expert has been excluded where expert testimony is required by law to establish an element of the plaintiff's case. It is, nevertheless, clear that it is very important to Hill's case to be allowed to use some sort of expert testimony to rebut the use by the defense of the Rule 35 examinations conducted by the doctor and vocational expert selected by the defense after Hill's late disclosed vocational expert was excluded. These

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